I N THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA
ClVIL ACTION NO 05-621
V.

KHALEP COPES E CRIM NAL NO. 04-384-01

MEMORANDUM
Padova, J. August 26, 2005

Presently before the Court is Defendant Khal ep Copes’ Mtion
to Vacate, Set Aside or Correct Sentence pursuant to 28 U S.C. 8§
2255, and Mbtion to Suppl enent Motion to Vacate. For the foll ow ng
reasons, the Mtion to Supplenent is granted and the Mtion to
Vacate i s deni ed.
l. BACKGROUND

On Septenber 1, 2004, Defendant pled guilty to Counts |
(conspiracy to knowingly nmake false statenments to a federally
licensed firearns dealer, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371) and |11
(possession of a firearmby a convicted felon, in violation of 18
US C §8922(g)(1)) of Indictment No. 04-384 pursuant to a witten
pl ea agreenent. I ndi ctment No. 04-384 (the “Indictnent”) arose
from Def endant’ s unl awful acquisitions of two firearns through the
help of his co-conspirators Antoine MCl ain and Sonia Rone. I n
April 2004, Defendant asked Ms. Ronme to purchase two weapons from
alicensed firearns deal er for him because Defendant hinself coul d
not legally acquire firearnms due to his status as a convicted
felon. M. Ronme consented and, on April 30, 2004, attenpted to buy

two sem aut omati ¢ handguns sel ected by Defendant froma federally



licensed firearns dealer. Ms. Rone, however, was unable to
purchase t he guns that day because her nane had been put on hol d by
t he I nsta-check system On May 5, 2004, the firearns deal er called
Ms. Rone and informed her that she had been approved for the gun
pur chases. That sane day, Ms. Rone returned to the store with
Def endant, purchased the two handguns, and handed them to
Def endant. The firearns were recovered by the Firearns Trafficking
Task Force froma vehicle in which Defendant was riding | ater that
day.

Defendant’s Cuilty Plea Agreenent includes the follow ng
summary of the maxi num sentence Def endant faced:

The def endant under st ands, agrees and has
had expl ai ned to hi mby counsel that the Court
may inpose the following statutory maxi num
sentence: Count 1 - conspiracy to make fal se
statenents to a firearns dealer: 5 years
i mprisonnment, 3 years supervised release, a
$250, 000 fine, and a $100 speci al assessnent;
Count 3 - possession of a firearm by a
convicted felon: ten years inprisonnent, a
$250, 000 fine, and a $100 speci al assessnent.

The total possible maxi num sentence is:
15 years inprisonnment, 3 years supervised
rel ease, a $500,000 fine, and a $200 specia
assessnent.

(Quilty Plea Agreenment at 2.) The Quilty Plea Agreenent also
provi des that “[t] he defendant explicitly consents to be sentenced
pursuant to the applicable Sentencing Guidelines . . . . The
def endant explicitly acknow edges that his plea to the charged
of fenses authorizes the court to inpose any sentence, up to and

i ncludi ng the statutory maxi numsentence, that is authorized by the
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Sentencing Guidelines.” (ld. at 4.) The CGuilty Plea Agreenent
further provides that Wllians is eligible for a 2 | evel downward
adjustnment of the base offense |[evel for acceptance of
responsibility pursuant to United States Sentencing Quidelines
(“US.S.G”) §8 3E1.1(a), and to a | level dowward adjustnent for
assisting authorities in the investigation or prosecution of his
own m sconduct pursuant to U.S.S.G 8§ 3El1.1(b). (ld. at 3-4.) The
Quilty Plea Agreenent also states that:

I n exchange for the undertaki ngs made by the

government in entering this plea agreenent,

t he defendant voluntarily and expressly wai ves

all rights to appeal to collaterally attack

the defendant’s conviction, sentence, or any

other matter relating to this prosecution,

whet her such a right to appeal or collateral

attack arises under 18 U.S.C. § 3742, 28

US C 8§ 1291, 28 U S.C. § 2255, or any other

provi si on of |aw.
(Id. at 4-5.) Finally, the Guilty Plea Agreenent provides that
“[t]he defendant is satisfied with the I|egal representation
provi ded by the defendant’s | awer; the defendant and this | awer
have fully discussed this plea agreenent; and the defendant is
agreeing to plead guilty because the defendant admts that he is
guilty.” (ld. at 5.)

On Septenber 1, 2004, the Court held a change of plea hearing.

During the hearing, the Governnment summarized the charges agai nst
Def endant, the evidence upon which those charges were based, the

maxi mum and m ni num sentences he faced, and the terns of his plea

agreenent wth the Governnent. (9/1/2004 NT. at 7-19.)



Def endant, having first been sworn and under oath, agreed that the
Government had accurately summarized the terns of his plea
agreenent, affirmed that he had di scussed the plea agreenent with
his counsel prior to signing it, and stated that he had signed the
pl ea agreenent. (Ld. at 3, 5-8.) Defendant al so agreed, under
oath, that he had to his satisfaction discussed with his attorney
t he charges nade against him his right to contest those charges,
and the maxi mum and nmandatory mninmum penalties that he faced
(ILd. at 18, 20.) The Court accepted Defendant’s plea of quilty.
(ILd. at 22.)
On Decenber 9, 2004, Defendant was sentenced to 40 nonths
i nprisonment and three years of supervised release on each of
Counts | and Il, to run concurrently, a fine of $4,000, and a
speci al assessnment of $200. Defendant was represented by Scott Di
Claudio, Esq., at both his change of plea hearing and at
sent enci ng. Presently before the Court is Defendant’s Mdttion to
Vacate Sentence pursuant to 28 U S. C § 2255, and Mdtion to
Suppl enent the Mdtion to Vacate pursuant to Federal Rule of G vil
Procedure 15.
1. LEGAL STANDARD
28 U.S.C. 8§ 2255 provides, in relevant part, as foll ows:

A prisoner in custody under sentence of a

court established by Act of Congress claimng

the right to be rel eased upon the ground that

the sentence was inposed in violation of the

Constitution or laws of the United States, or
that the court was wthout jurisdiction to
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I npose such sentence, or that the sentence was
i n excess of the maxi mum aut hori zed by | aw, or
is otherw se subject to collateral attack, may
nmove the court which inposed the sentence to
vacate, set aside or correct the sentence.

28 U . S.C. § 2255.
“Section 2255 does not provide habeas petitioners with a

panacea for all alleged trial or sentencing errors.” United States

v. Rishell, Crim No. 97-294-1, Cv. A No. 01-486, 2002 W. 4638,
at *1 (E.D. Pa. Dec. 21, 2001) (citation omtted). In order to
prevail on a Section 2255 notion, the novant’s clained errors of
| aw nust be constitutional, jurisdictional, “a fundanental defect
whi ch inherently results in a conplete m scarriage of justice,” or
“an om ssion inconsistent with the rudinentary demands of fair

procedure.” Hll v. United States, 368 U S. 424, 428 (1962).

[11. DI SCUSSI ON

Def endant has raised the followi ng four grounds for relief
pursuant to 28 US C 8§ 2255 (i) the Governnment | acked
jurisdiction to prosecute Defendant because he was not arrested on
federal property; (ii) Defendant’s inprisonnent i s unconstitutional
because he is not inprisoned pursuant to an act of Congress; (iii)
t he Sent enci ng Gui del i nes pursuant to whi ch Def endant was sent enced
are unconstitutional and subjected Defendant to doubl e jeopardy;
and (iv) Defendant’s counsel was ineffective for failing to address
these issues at the tine of Defendant’s sentencing and to file a

notice of appeal. Defendant has also filed a Motion to Suppl enent



his Mdtion to Vacate, Set Aside or Correct Sentence pursuant to 28
U S C 8§ 2255. The CGovernnent does not oppose Defendant’s Motion
to Supplenment. Accordingly, Defendant’s Mdtion to Supplenent is
gr ant ed.

A. VWai ver of Right to File a Section 2255 Mition

The Governnent argues that Defendant’s Section 2255 Mbdtion
should be denied because Defendant waived his right to seek
collateral relief in his GQuilty Plea Agreenment. In this judicial
circuit, waivers of appeals and the right to pursue coll ateral
attacks of sentences are enforced if they do not work a m scarri age
of justice and were entered into know ngly and voluntarily. United

States v. Khattak, 273 F.3d 557, 558 (3d Cir. 2001); United States

v. Roach, Crim No. 02-405-04, 2005 W 1514191, at *2 (E. D. Pa.
June 24, 2005). Such waivers should be strictly construed, and t he
sentencing judge’ s role in conducting a plea coll oquy under Feder al
Rule of Crimnal Procedure 11 is critical to a determnation of
whet her a defendant’s wai ver of appellate rights was know ng and

voluntary. Khattak, 273 F.3d at 562-63; United States v. Buchanan,

Crim No. 03-198; Cv. A No. 04-4578, 2005 W. 408043, at *2 (E.D
Pa. Feb. 18, 2005). Under Rule 11, “before accepting a plea of
guilty, the court nust address the defendant personally and
determ ne that the defendant understands the terns of any plea
agreenent provision waiving theright to. . . collaterally attack

the sentence.” Buchanan, 2005 W. 408043, at *2.



Her e, Def endant does not argue that the waiver of his right to
file a Section 2255 Motion was not know ng and voluntary. |ndeed,
t he Court col |l oqui ed Def endant on this issue, and Defendant clearly
stated that he understood the |[imtations placed on his right to
collaterally attack his sentence by the Quilty Plea Agreenent.
(09/01/2004 N.T. at 11, 20.) Accordingly, the Court concl udes that
Def endant’ s wai ver of his right to collaterally attack his sentence

was knowi ng and voluntary. See Buchanan, 2005 W. 408043, at *2.

Nonet hel ess, there are certain situation in which an “error
anopunting to mscarriage of justice” may invalidate a know ng and
vol untary wai ver. Khattak, 273 F.3d at 562. The United States
Court of Appeals for the Third Crcuit has “declined to identify
specific situations in which enforcenent of a waiver provision
woul d work a m scarriage of justice, and has instead endorsed the

case-by-case approach established in United States v. Teeter, 257

F.3d 14 (1st Cr. 2001).” Buchanan, 2005 W. 408043, at *3 (citing
Khattak, 273 F.3d at 563.) Under Teeter, courts weigh various
factors in deciding whether to enforce an otherw se valid waiver,
i ncl udi ng:

the clarity of the error, its gravity, its
character (e.g. whether it concerns a fact
i ssue, a sentencing guideline, or a statutory
maxi mum), the inpact of the error on the
def endant, the inpact of correcting the error
on the governnent, and the extent to which the
def endant acqui esced in the result.

Teeter, 257 F.3d at 26.



Al t hough Def endant does not explicitly argue that enforcenent
of his waiver would result in a mscarriage of justice, Defendant
does claim that the sentence inposed by the Court was unl awf ul
Accordingly, the Court wll analyze each argunent raised by
Def endant to determ ne whether any errors were conmtted and, if
so, whether the failure to correct such errors would amount to a
m scarriage of justice.

1. Jurisdiction to prosecute

First, Defendant argues that his sentence is unl awful because
he was not arrested on federal property and the Governnent,
therefore, lacked jurisdiction to prosecute him “The United
States is a governnent with authority extending over the whole
territory of the Union, acting upon the States and upon the people
of the States. Wiile it islimted in the nunber of its powers, so

far as its sovereignty extends it is suprene.” Tennessee v. Davis,

100 U. S. 257, 163 (1879). Here, Defendant was arrested within the
territory of the United States for a violation of a federal |aw
Def endant’ s arrest, therefore, was proper, and the Governnent had

valid jurisdiction of over Defendant at all tines.! Accordingly,

! Defendant seens to argue that the Governnent did not have
the authority to arrest him because it did not conply with the
requirenents listed in 18 US.C. 8 7. 18 US. C § 7 governs the
“special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United
States” over | ocations that are outside of the geographical borders
of the 50 states. 18 U.S.C. 8 7. Here, Defendant was arrested,
and the offense conduct took place, within the Comobnweal th of
Pennsyl vani a. 18 US.C 8 7, therefore, does not apply in this
case.



no error was made in exercising jurisdiction over Defendant, and
Def endant’ s Motion to Vacate is denied in this respect.

2. | npri sonnent pursuant to an act of Congress

Second, Defendant argues that his sentence i s unl awful because
no act of Congress authorizes his inprisonnent. Def endant pl ed
guilty to Count | of the Indictnment, charging himw th conspiracy
to know ngly make fal se statenents to a federally licensed firearns
dealer, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371. Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §
371, this offense is punishable by a period of inprisonnent of up
to 60 nonths. Def endant also pled guilty to Count I[I1l of the
I ndictnment, charging him with possession of a firearm by a
convicted felon, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 8 922(g)(1). Pursuant
to 18 U S.C. 8§ 924(a)(2), this offense conduct is punishable by a
period of inprisonnment of up to 120 nonths. The sentence i nposed
on Defendant was a term of inprisonnent of 40 nonths on each of
Counts | and Ill, to run concurrently. As this is well within the
period of inprisonnment authorized by 18 U S. C. 8§ 371 for Count |
and 18 U.S.C. §8 924(a)(2) for Count 111, Defendant was sentenced in
accordance with the relevant federal statutes. Accordingly, the
Court did not err in inposing the period of inprisonnment to which
it sentenced Def endant, and Defendant’s Mdtion to Vacate is inthis
respect.

3. Sent enci ng _Gui del i nes

Third, Defendant argues that his sentence is unl awmful because



the Court’s calculation of his Quideline sentencing range was
i nproper and subjected himto double jeopardy. Defendant raises
three argunents in this respect. First, Defendant contends that
t he Sent enci ng Gui del i nes shoul d not have been appli ed because t hey
were considered unconstitutional at the tine of his sentencing.
Second, Defendant argues that the Court incorrectly calculated his
crimnal history points, and that the cal culation of the crim nal
hi story score subjected hi mto double jeopardy. Third, Defendant
argues that the Court inproperly took into account two prior
convi ctions when calculating his crimnal history score.

Def endant relies on United States v. Booker, --- US. ----,

125 S. C. 738 (2005) to establish that the Sentencing Cuidelines
were unconstitutional at the tinme of his sentencing. |n Booker,
the Suprenme Court held that because the Sentencing Cuidelines
al l owed judges to find facts that lead to a greater sentence than
that authorized by the facts established by a plea of guilty or a
jury verdict, the Guidelines were unconstitutional. Booker, 125
S. C. at 746 (Stevens, J.). To renedy this situation, the Suprene
Court excised the statutory provision that made the GQuidelines
mandatory, and thereby rendered the Quidelines “effectively
advi sory.” 125 S. &. at 757 (Breyer, J.). However, the rule
announced in Booker is a procedural rule which does not apply
retroactively to cases on collateral reviewin which a defendant’s

j udgnent had becone final prior to the Booker decision. Lloyd v.
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United States, 407 F.3d 608, 614 (3d Cr. 2005).

Were no direct appeal is filed, a defendant's judgnment of
conviction becones final for the purposes of the retroactivity
anal ysis on the date on which the tinme for filing such appeal has

expi red. Kapral v. United States, 166 F.3d 565, 577 (3d Cr.

1999). A defendant has ten days from the entry of judgnent in
which to file a tinmely notice of appeal. Fed. R App. P
4(b) (1) (A) (i). Here, Defendant was sentenced on Decenber 9, 2004.
Consequent |y, Defendant’s judgnent of conviction becane final on
Decenber 19, 2004. As Defendant’s conviction was final prior to
the Suprene Court’s decision in Booker, this decision does not
apply to him and the Court’s application of the Sentencing
Quidelines to determ ne Defendant’s sentence was mandatory.

Def endant next argues that the Court subjected himto double
jeopardy by incorrectly calculating his crimnal history points.
Specifically, Defendant contends that it was i nproper to add three
crimnal history points on grounds that he conmtted the charged
of fenses while he was on parole and | ess than two years foll ow ng
his rel ease fromcustody for a prior offense. Defendant notes that
the prior offense had already been taken into account when the
Court added three crimnal history points for it under a separate
heading, and that the additional three points added for that
of fense thereafter are repetitive and violate the doubl e jeopardy

cl ause of the Constitution. However, it is well-established that
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such sentence enhancenents address “the penalty for the current
of fenses, not for those crinmes for which [the defendant] has
al ready served a sentence of inprisonnent.” Roach, 2005 W. 1514191,
at *3. Accordingly, these enhancenents are “‘not to be viewed as
either a new jeopardy or additional penalty for the earlier
crinmes,’”” but rather as “*a stiffened penalty for the |l atest crine,
which is considered to be an aggravated offense because a

repetitive one.’”” Wtte v. United States, 515 U. S. 389, 400 (1995)

(quoting Gryger v. Burke, 334 U.S. 728, 732 (1948)). The Court,

therefore, did not subject Defendant to double jeopardy by its
conputation of Defendant’s crimnal history points.?

Def endant further argues that the Court erred in cal culating
his crimnal history score because the Court inproperly took into
account two of his prior convictions. Defendant contends that the
Court shoul d not have added a crimnal history point for one of his
prior adult crimnal convictions for possession of a controlled

subst ance, because Defendant was not convicted of that offense.?

2 Def endant al so seens to argue that no crimnal history point
should have added on grounds that the instant offenses were
commtted while Defendant was on parole, because Defendant was
sentenced after his period of parole had expired. However, under
t he Sentenci ng Gui deli nes, what is relevant is not that a defendant
is on parole at the tine of sentencing, but rather that “the
defendant conmmtted the instant offense while [on] . . . parole.”
US S G § 4A1.1(d). Here, it is undisputed that Defendant’s
parol e had not yet expired at the tinme he conmtted the instant
of f ense.

3 Defendant has two prior adult crimnal convictions for
possession of a controlled substance and has not identified the

12



However, the record establishes that Defendant pled guilty to his
1995 conviction for possession with intent to deliver a controlled
substance, and was adjudged gquilty of his 1997 offense of
possession of a controlled substance. (Pretrial Investigation
Report 19 33-34.) Defendant has offered no proof that would refute
t he exi stence of these convictions. The Court, therefore, properly
added one crimnal history point for each of Defendant’s prior
convictions for possession of a controlled substance.

Def endant al so contends that the Court inproperly added one
crimnal history point for a 2001 conviction for false reports to
| aw enf orcenent, because that offense conduct was only puni shabl e
wWith six nonths inprisonnment. However, pursuant to the Sentencing
Guidelines, one crimnal history point is to be added “for each
prior sentence not counted in (a) [inprisonnment of nore than one
year] or (b) [inprisonnment of 60 days or nore], up to a total of 4
points for this item” US S G § 4A1.1(c). Def endant’ s 2001
conviction was not previously counted in the calculation of his
crimnal history score. The Court, therefore, properly added one
crimnal history point for Defendant’s 2001 conviction for false
reports to |law enforcement even though that offense was not
puni shabl e by one year or nore of inprisonnment. Accordingly, the
Court did not err inits application of the Sentencing Cuidelines,

and Defendant’s Motion to Vacate is denied in this respect.

specific offense to which this objection pertains.
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B. | neffecti ve Assi stance of Counsel

Def endant has al so rai sed an i neffecti ve assi stance of counsel
claim Defendant argues that his privately retai ned counsel was
i neffective because he failed to bring the issues raised in
Def endant’ s Motion to Vacate to the Court’s attention prior to or
during the sentencing hearing, and because he failed to file a

notice of appeal on Defendant’s behalf.* In Strickland v.

Washi ngton, 466 U. S. 668 (1984), the United States Suprene Court
held that crimnal defendants have a Sixth Amendnent right to
“reasonably effective” |legal assistance. 1d. at 687. 1In order to
prevail on an ineffective assi stance of counsel claim a defendant
must show (1) that his counsel’s performance was deficient, and (2)
that such performance prejudiced Defendant’s defense. Id. To
establish that his counsel’s performance was deficient, a
“def endant nust show that counsel’s representation fell below an
obj ective standard of reasonabl eness.” 1d. at 688. “In evaluating
counsel’s performance, [the Court is] ‘highly deferential’ and

“indul ge[s] a strong presunption’ that, under the circunstances,

4 Defendant al so argues that the Court inproperly failed to
advise himof his right to an appeal at the sentencing hearing.
The record, however, establishes that the Court advi sed Def endant
that he had “the right to appeal, including the right to appeal the
sentenced . . . just inposed.” (12/09/04 N.T. at 30.) The Court
further informed Defendant that if he could not afford the costs of
t aki ng such an appeal, he could apply for | eave to appeal in forma
pauperis. 1d. The Court cautioned, however, that Defendant m ght
have further conpromsed and |limted his right to appeal by his
Quilty Plea Agreenent, and noted that Defendant could rely on the
advice of his counsel in this regard. 1d.
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counsel s challenged actions ‘mght be considered sound

strategy.’” Buehl v. Vaughn, 166 F.3d 163, 169 (3d Cr. 1999)

(quoting Strickland, 466 U S. at 689). Accordingly, “it is ‘only

the rare claimof ineffectiveness of counsel that should succeed
under the properly deferential standard to be applied in

scrutinizing counsel’s performance.’”” |1d. (quoting United States

v. Gay, 878 F.2d 702, 711 (3d Gr. 1989)).
If a defendant shows that his counsel’s performnce was
deficient, he then nust show that the deficient performance

prejudi ced his defense. Strickland, 466 U S. at 687. “Thi s

requires showing that counsel’s errors were SO Serious as to
deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is
reliable.” Id. The defendant nust show that “there is a
reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional
errors, the result of the proceedi ng woul d have been different. A
reasonabl e probability is a probability sufficient to underm ne
confidence in the outcone.” 1d. at 694.

It is well-established that “[t] here can be no Si xth Amendnent
deprivation of effective counsel based on an attorney’s failure to

raise a neritless argunent.” United States v. Sanders, 165 F.3d

248, 253 (3d Cr. 1999). Because the Court has al ready concl uded
t hat the cl ai ns whi ch Def endant contends counsel shoul d have rai sed
on his behalf during or prior to sentencing are neritless,

Def endant has failed to establish that his counsel was i neffective
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for failing to raise these issues prior to or during sentencing.

Moreover, it is well-established that where a defendant has
knowi ngly and vol untarily waived his right to appeal, his counsel’s
failure to file an appeal is reasonable wunder prevailing
pr of essi onal nornms and cannot provide the basis for an ineffective
assi stance of counsel claim Buchanan, 2005 W. 408043, at *4.
Here, Defendant knowi ngly and voluntarily waived his right to
appeal in his Guilty Plea Agreenent. (09/01/2004 N.T. at 4, 7.)
Def endant’ s counsel, therefore, was not ineffective for failingto
file a notice of appeal, and Defendant’s Mdtion to Vacate i s denied
in this respect.
' V.  CONCLUSI ON

For the foregoi ng reasons, the Court finds that enforcenent of
Def endant’ s wai ver of his right to seek collateral relief does not
work a m scarriage of justice. Accordingly, Defendant’s Mdtion to
Suppl enent is granted and Defendant’s Mdtion to Vacate is denied.

An appropriate Order foll ows.
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I N THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA
CIVIL ACTION NO. 05-621
V.
KHALEP COPES E CRIM NAL NO.  04-384-01
ORDER
AND NOW this 26th day of August, 2005, upon consideration of
Defendant’s Mdttion to Vacate, Set Aside or Correct Sentence
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255 (Doc. No. 95), and Defendant’s Modtion
to Suppl enent Motion to Vacate Mdtion to Vacate (Doc. No. 97), and
all subm ssions received in response thereto, I T |S HEREBY ORDERED
as follows:
1. Defendant’s Mdtion to Vacate, Set Aside or Correct
Sentence pursuant to 28 U S.C. 8§ 2255 (Doc. No. 95) is
DENI ED
2. Def endant’ s Motion to Supplenment Motion to Vacate (Doc.
No. 97) is GRANTED, and

3. A certificate of appealability pursuant to 28 U S.C. §

2253(c)(2) is DENI ED.

BY THE COURT:

/s/ John R Padova

John R Padova, J.



